
UNITED NATIONS j 

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUN,CIL. 
7 7 3 rd Meeting 

Tuesday, 13 Ap~il 1954, 
at 10.45 a.m. Seventeenth Session 

0FFICIAL RECORDS 

CONTENTS 
Page 

Freedom of information: (a) Report of the Rapporteur on 
Freedom of Information (E/2426 and Add.l to 3, E/2427 
and Add.1 and 2, E/2439 and Add.1, E/2535, E/L.587); 
(b) Encouragement and development of independent 
domestic information enterprises (E/2534); (c) Produc
tion and distribution of newsprint and printing paper : 
report of the s·ecretary-General under ·Council resolu-
tion 423 (XIV) (E/2543) (contin!fed) ................ 121 

President: Mr. Juan I. COOKE (Argentina). 

Present: 
The representatives of the following countries: 

Argentina·, Australia, Belgium, China, Cuba, Czechoslo
vakia:, Ecuador, Egypt, France, India, Norway, Pakis
tan,' Turkey, Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, 
United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ire
land, United States of America, Venezuela, Yugoslavia. 

Ob~erv~rs from the following . countries : Chile, 
Philippines. 

The Rapporteur on Freedom of Information. 
The' representatives of the following specialized 

agencies: InternatiOna.l Labour Organisation, United 
Nations Educatioaal, Scientific. and Cultural Organiza
tion. 

Freedom: ot' information:. (a) Report ilf the Rap· 
porteur on Freedom of Information (E/2426 
and Add.l to 3, E/2427 and Add.l and 2, E/ 
2439 and Add. I, E/2535, EjL.587) ; (b) En· 
couragemeut and development of independent 
domestic. information enterprises (E/2534); 
(c) Production and distribution of newsprint 
and printing paper: report of the Sec:r:etary· 
General under Council resolution 423 (XIV) 
(E/2543) (continued) 

[Agenda item 12) · 

GENERAL DEBATE (continued) . . 
1. Mr. TRUJILLO'( Ecuador) observed that the much 
dis<eussed question of freedbm of information affeCted 
the highest values of mankind' and was therefore bound 
to amuse the. greatest interest. The course modem 
civilization. would take would depend upon its solution. 

2. The Rapporteur had presented to the Council a 
report (E/2426 and· Add.l to 3)', the result of a: sus
tained effort deserving of appreciation. However, the 
fruits of his labour feU short of what the Council had 
expected when~ in its resolution 442 C (XIV), it had 
dedded to entrust a rapporteur with the task of pre'
paring "a smustantive report covering major contempo
rary problems and developments in the field of freedom 
of information" and of submitting "recommendations 
regarding practical, action which might be taken by 
the: Council". ' 

HEADQUARTERS, NEW YORK 

3. The Rapporteur had started out by presenting, in 
chapter I, his views on the concept of freedom. of 
information, placing the question in its proper histot:ical 
perspective. While he had described the movement 
through which man's simple,, natural curosity had 
transformed itself through the ages into a noble desire 
to improve his culture by conquering the truth, he had 
failed, on the other hand, to show how the Socratic 
concept of freedom of expression could have led to the 
concept of information as a commen:ial enterpri~e 
which was prevalent to-day. As long as freedom of 
information had been an absolute ideal, the slightest 
restriction placed upon it could rightly have been con
dem.ned in its name, but as soon as infohnation became 
a business, one was on much less solid ground. The 
newspaper, which had been a sanctuary or forum, had 
become nothing more than an advertising machine. 
The privilege of moulding, or even of creating, public 
opinion now rested with the commercial enterprises. 

4. That evolution of the ve~y nature of information· 
shed a. new light on the question of freedom_ of infor-
mation. The problem was whether absolute freedom of 
information was consistent with the exercise of that 
freedom · for commercial . purposes. The commerci~ 
infprmation enterprise in the form of the Press con
sortium, the news agency, the· radio station, for which 
the transmission· of information was no more than a 
profit-making venture, now separated the source of : 
information from ·its destination. 

5. The Rapporteur seemed not to have taken that 
basic factor into account, but to have appr0ached his 
study from a traditional point of view which no longer 
corresponded to the facts. That was ·the main failing 
of the report. · 

6., But that was not all. Although the Rapporteur's. 
chief task had been to~ create, through his work, an 
atmosphere conducive to the/ adoption of practical 
measures, he had introduced into his report, thus ac
cepting responsibility for them, statements from cer
tain private groups, including the Freedom of the Press 
Committee of the Inter-American Press Association, 
which contained intolerable insults to governments of 
States Members of the United Nations. That was a 
serious matter. The RapPorteur, by inserting in his 
report the findings of the Associated' Press or the Inter
national Press Institute had, to say fhe least, committed 
an error of judgment. Moreover, the information he 
supplied was at times contradictory. For instance, he 
stated in one section of the report that there was no 
censorship in Cuba, and a few pages further on that 
censorship there was very strict. 

7. With regard to the under-developed countries
and he objected to the use of that term in a disparag
ing sense-the Rapporteur had shown little understand
ing. Still echoing, the views of the aforementioned 
institutions, he accused those countries of restricting 
freedom of information but did not take ·into account 
the fad that certain restrictions were inevitable in the 
era of political instability in which niost under
developed countries currently found themselves. Even 

121 E/SR. 773 



122 Economic and Social Council-Seventeenth Session 

a traditionally freedom-loving country such as the 
United Kingdom could be compelled to sacrifice prin
ciples to the requirements of public order, as it was 
doing in Kenya. Neither was France entirely blameless 
in that respect, as the situation in Tunisia and Morocco 
showed. He asked by what right, then, the smaller 
countries which were still in a state of evolution, which 
had to defend not only their principles but their very 
existence and which, unlike the more privileged coun
tries, could not afford unrestricted freedom of informa
tion, were called to account. 

8. The Rapporteur had not approached the problem 
in the right way. As it stood his report seemed to be 
the result of what the Venezuelan representative had 
called a "police investigation". The United Nations 
could expect a more thorough study of the whole 
question, which took current realities into account, 
rather than a series of often unjustified criticisms 
which could only injure the feelings of governments 
to the d~triment of that atmosphere of harmony which 
was essential to joint action .. 

9. He wished also to correct certain incomplete and 
tendentious data concerning Ecuador contained in 
chapter V, section C, of the report. Those data, supplied 
by the Freedom of the Press Committee of the Inter
American Press Association, were no more worthy of 
credence than the information provided by the Asso
ciated Press, another concern which felt that informa
tion need not necessarily be based on an actual knowl
edge of the events and facts reported. 

10. The Rapporteur's failure had nothing to do with 
his moral · character which was beyond reproach; it 
should be ascribed rather to his idea of how the question 

· should be approached and to the form in which he had 
presented his report. The report was not so much his 
own as that of the major commercial enterprises. The 
failure of the initial effort did not prompt his delegation 
to take an irrevocable position against the appointment 
of a rapporteur. In its view, the overriding considera
tion was that the United Nations should continue to 
give careful consideration to the question of freedom 
of information. However, he would rather see the task 
assigned to a committee of the Council or to a small 
group of experts. 

11. Most of Mr. Lopez's proposals were satisfactory 
but the delegation of Ecuador favoured their adoption 
in the form suggested by the. French delegation. Its 
draft resolution (E/L.587) contained explicit terms 
of reference for the rapporteur and would certainly 
prevent the next report from likewise resembling a 
police investigation. 

12. Ecuador wanted freedom of information but 
freedom should not serve as a pretext for furthering 
the interests of large commercial undertakings to the 
detriment 'of those of the peoples of the world. 

13. Mr. NOSEK (Czechoslovakia) observed that 
alhtough the question of freedom of information had 
been studied by the General Assembly and other organs 
of the United Nations for many years, scarcely any 
progress had been made. No solution was possible so 
long as efforts were made to define the concept in 
abstraCt terms ; the only consideration was the interests 
of the owners and· the personnel of information ·agen- -
cies, and the problem was not dealt with in a compre
hensive way, primarily from the standpoint of the 
interests of the man who read the newspapers, listened 

to the radio, attended the cinema or watched tele
VISIOn. 

14. No action would be effective unless every Mem
ber of the United Nations adopted as its chief objective 
the implementation of the principles of the Charter 
and the maintenance of international peace and secu
rity. It was because the resolutions adopted on the 
question and the draft ·convention on freedom of infor
mation1 were not based on those principles that they 
could not contribute to the solution of the problem of 
freedom of information. 

15. The joy with which millions of people had wel
comed the current relaxation of international tension, 
their desire for a peaceful settlement of all outstanding 
issues, which would make possible the peaceful co
existence of all nations, showed that the principles 
embodied in General Assembly resolution 110 (II) 
concerning propaganda for war were fully in keeping 
with the aspirations of mankind and should serve as 
the basis of any convention on freedom of information. 

16. Unfortunately ·those who had drawn up the draft 
convention had disregarded those principles; there 
was, on the contrary, an attempt to conceal behind 
abstract and high-sounding phrases the desire of some 
to prevent any action likely to promote real freedom 
of information. That was convincingly shown by the 
fact that the Drafting Committee had rejected the 
USSR proposal which had been animated by the prin
ciples of the Charter and General Assembly resolution 
110 (II) 2

• That attitude was a reflection of the oppo
sition of certain circles that were trying to involve 
their countries in war and, ·in the United States of 
America, had already secured the adoption of a law 
aimed at promoting interference in the internal affairs 
of other sovereign States. Those circles, which inter
preted the wishes of powerful economic interests, were 
not interested in. real freedom of information; they 
sought to obtain unlimited latitude for the provocation 
and preparation of a new wa:r. . 

I 

17. It was a tragedy that, in their own countries and 
sometimes in foreign countries, those financial groups 
were the sole owners of almost the entire Press and 
other information media, which they used to further 
their own interests. Whatever the United States 
delegation lnight say, such a situation was incompatible 
with real freedom of information. The United States 
representative preferred to raise once again the case 
of William Oatis, which had nothing to do with the 
item under consideration since it concerned only that 
journalist's activities against the Czechoslovak Govern
ment which, on . Oatis' own admission, constituted 
violations of Czechoslovak law. 

18. It was also that concept of freedom of informa
tion which led United States monopolies to persecute 
all progressive elements in the fields of science and , 
culture. On that subject some very enlightening ar
ticles had appeared in the United States Press itself,· 
such as the article in the New Republic of 19 June 
1953 on. the destruction of books considered .subversive, 
or the article by Robert M. Hutchins in the magazine 
Look of 9 March 1954 entitled "Are Our Teachers 
Afraid to Teach?". 

1 See Official Records of the General Assembly, Seventh Ses
sion, Annexes, agenda item 29, document A/ AC.42/7, annex. 

2 Ibid., document A/AC.42/7 (in which the text of the USSR 
proposal (A/AC.42/L.4/Rev.l) is incorporated). 



773rd Meeting-13 April 1954 123 

19. Lies, slanders and distorted facts were other 
weapons frequently utilized by certain Press agencies. 
For example, the Government and public opinion of 
Guatemala had recently been subjected to so many of 
them that they had had to expel two United States 
journalists. 

20. Such methods could not contribute to the lessening 
of international tension or the strengthening of peace
ful co-operation among nations. That was why a 
remedy had to be found for the situation. 

21. An examination of the report on freedom of infor
mation led the Czechoslovak delegation to the conclu
sion that Mr. Lopez' recommendations (E/2426, chap. 
VI) contributed nothing to a solution. The Rapporteur 
used inadmissible language, which had no place in 
official documents of the Council, to describe the peoples' 
democracies, to which he variously referred as the 
"Cominform nations" and "satellites". Such methods 
showed the spirit in which the report was drafted. 

22. It was in chapter V that the author's bias was 
most apparent. Mr. Lopez noted that there were two 
basically opposed schools of thought on the question 
of propaganda for war, and false and distorted infor
mation. The first held that the best remedy lay in the 
fullest and freest possible supply of news and that 
therefore United Nations action to facilitate the free 
flow of information was all that was r~quired. The 
other school asserted that the only remedy lay in the 
outright suppression of hostile propaganda, and false 
and distorted information. The Rapporteur recalled, 
and rightly so, that the latter position had been taken 
in 1947 by the USSR representative when he had 
proposed that the governments of all countries be 
called upon to prohibit, on pain of criminal penalties, 
war propaganda in any form and t6 take measures for 
the prevention and suppression of such propaganda. 
Instead of confining himself to that objective statement 
of the facts, the Rapporteur did not hesitate to come 
out in favour of one of the alternatives by asserting 
that it was not feasible, for the time being at least, to 
seek the outright prohibition a!!d suppression of hostile 
propaganda and of false or distorted information by 
means of international legislation: In other words, war 
propaganda could be given a free rein. However, the 
Rapporteur was aware of the dangers inherent in the 
situation and therefore suggested in his draft resolution 
No. 2 (E/2426, chap. VI) that the International Con
vention concerning the Use of Broadcasting in the 
Cause of Peace, signed at Geneva in 1936; should be 
revitalized. The effectiveness of that instrument and 
the value of revitalizing it were best shown by the 
fact that the Second World War had broken out less 
than two years after its entry into force in 1938. 

23. The report contained no constructive proposals. 
For example, draft resolution No. 1, after recalling the, 
difficulties encountered in the drafting of article 2 of 
the draft convention on freedom of information, recom
mended the adoption of a general formula, which was no 
solution at all, since it failed to mention war propa
ganda and the dissemination of false and distorted 
information. Moreover, it was proposed to include in 
the draft convention a clause providing that the- con
tracting parties. shou}d meet together five years after 
its entry into force for ·the purpose of re¥iewing ar
ticle 2 in the light of their experience of its practic
ability. ·Thus the solution was postponed once again. 
The Council had not adv_anced beyond the situation 

that had existed five years before and he saw no need 
for appointing a new rapporteur. 

24. The C:r;echoslovak delegation would express its 
views on the other draft resolutions when they were 
studied in the Social Committee, but meanwhile it 
wished to draw the Council's attention to the whole
hearted approval that hundreds of millions of honest 
people had given to the resolutions of the Second 
Congress of Partisans of Peace, held at Warsaw in 
1950, including a resolution on war propaganda. That 
resolution called upon the parliaments of all countries 
to enact legislation in defence of peace which would 
prohibit war propaganda in any form on pain of crimi
nal responsibility. The desire of those millions had 
found no response in the United Nations in spite of 
the adoption at the second session of the General 
Assembly of resolution 110 (II) on measures to be 
taken against propaganda and the inciters of a new war. 
On the contrary, that universal desire for peace had 
become the target of the attack by Mr. Lopez, who 
characterized the World Council of Peace as "a Com
munist-led" organization (E/2426/ Add.l, annex B). 
Only the Soviet Union and the peoples' democracies, 
faithful to their peace policy, had adopted laws to 
protect peace. In Czechoslovakia, any person who at
tempted to disrupt the peaceful co-existence of peoples 
was prosecuted by law. 

25. The Czechoslovak delegation was convinced that· 
the solution of the problem of freedom of information 
lay in the adoption of measures likely to ensure that 
information media would no longer be "Utilized for war
mongering purposes and would be devoted exclusively 

· to the building of a better future and the struggle for 
the maintenance of peace. 

26. If the United Nations showed itself incapable of 
acting along those lines, it would disappoint the hopes 
that hundreds of millions of people still had in the 
Organization and would fail in its historic mission. 

27. The PRESIDENT invited the observer for the 
Philippines to speak on the question of freedom of 
information. 

28. Mr. REYES (Philippines) pointed out that the 
report on freedom of information (E/2426) contained 
two references critical of the Philippines. 

29. The first referred to the intimidation of the staff 
of a newspaper which had published articles alleging 
that irregularities had been committed during the 
Presidential election in 1949. He wished to make it 
clear that the reference was to the act of a local 
political group condemned by public opinion. It would 

' be unfortunate if the ,incident was viewed as the result-
of a deliberately fostered and systematically applied 
Government policy, but that was what one might infer 
from a reading of the report. The Philippine delega
tion considered it most regrettable that the incident 
should have been reported under the heading "Internal 
censorship and the suppression and coercion of media 
of information" (chap. V, section C), which catalogued 
measures adopted by a number of governments to re
strict freedom of information. The. reader might be led 
to think that similar measures restricted freedom of 
information in the Philippines whereas there were no 
such ·restrictions. 

30. The second criticism of the Philippines concerned 
an adverse decision by the Supreme Court against a 
journalist who had refused to divulge his sources of 
information. That judgment could not be legally as-



124 Economic ·and Social Council-Seventeenth Session 

sailed, for while it was true that Philippine law sup
ported the principle that a newspaperman was not 
compelled to reveal his sources of information, it went 
on to add: "unless the court ... finds that such revela
tion is demanded by the interes,t of the State." The state 
of affairs could be remedied only by amending legisla
tion. Congress, with the full support of public opinion, 
attached such great values to freedom of expression 
that it had immediately initiated a study of how the 
law could be amended so that it could not be used 
arbitrarily to restrict access to sources of information 
or to endanger free dissemination . of information 
obtained. · 

31. The supplementary report mentioned the Philip
pines on several occasions (E/2426/ Add.1) but those 
references merely confirmed the absence of censorship 
of. information media. Other documents relating to 
item 12 of the agenda recalled· the fad that it was the 
Philippine delegation that had proposed to the General 
Assembly in 1946 that a conference on freedom of 
information should be held. That conference had taken 
place at Geneva in 1948 and had been attended by the 
representatives of fifty-seven States. The main basis 
of United Nations action in the field of information 
since then had consist~d of the three draft conventions 
and forty-three resolutions adopted during that con
ference3. 

32. The Philippine delegation had already made clear 
its position on many important questions dealt with 
in the Rapporteur's main recommendations, both in 
the Council and-the General Assembly. It had repeat
edly expressed its desire that the final· drafting of the 
convention on freedom of information should be com
pleted with controversial article 2 redrafted if necessary 
along the lines recommended by the Rapporteur in his 
draft resolution No. 1 (E/2426, chap. VI). It had also 
supported the proposal to encourage information· per
sonnel to adopt an international code of ethics,. and 
helped to facilitate the extension of certain programmes 
of technical assistance to under-developed countries in 
order to assist them to develop their information 
facilities. 

33. The Philippine delegation was also one of those 
which had opposed the appointment of a rapporteur 
on freedom of information at .the fourteenth session of 
the Council. Its position had been that the task should 
be entrusted to a group of experts and not to a single 
person. However, it considered, like many other dele
gations, that the Rapporteur had done useful work by 
providing.the United Natipns, the governments and the 
specialized agencies and non-governmental organiza
tions with a synthesis of the current situation in the 
field of freedom of information, an objective evaluation 
of the successes and failures so far encountered, and 
constructive suggestions for further action. . 

34. Among the problems mentioned by the· Rappor
teur in his report there were two which had particu
larly concerned the Philippine delegation. 

35. The first was the growing need to balance the 
rights and responsibilities of information organs. At 
the current time; which might be described as the 
hydrogen age, it was important that all countries, espe
cially thOse that had the most powerful information 
media, should be satisfied with nothing less th~tn the 

3 See Final Act of the United Nations Conference on Fr~edoni 
of Information held at Geneva, Switzerland, from 23 March 
to 21 April 1948 (E/C.9NF.6/79). 

truth. No longer could anyone afford the luxury of 
trifling with facts when it only needed a few careless 
words to unleash a chain reaction of misunderstand
ing, fear and hysteria which might lead to a war of 
extinction. ' 

36. The second was the increasing importance of 
developing information media in under-develop~ 
countries. International understanding, indispensable 
to the peace of the world, was a matter of reciprocity. 
It was becoming more and more unsatisfactory that the 
flow of information should be in one direction only. 
Like any free society, the community of nations could 
expand only if all its members were equally free to 
make their voices heard. It was undoubtedly a good 
thing that the voice of the West should reach Asia:, 
but it would be much better if the voice of Asia could 
reach the West with equal force and clarity, Out of 
such a dialogue between East and West might arise 
real understanding among peoples, the only guarantee 
of a better future. - · 

37. The Philippine delegation was thus pleased to 
note the importance attached by the Rapporteur to the 
development of information media in the under
developed countries. It believed with the Indian and 
Yugoslav clelegaticirts .that a major effort was required 
in that field, and it had looked forward eagerly to the 
recommendations to be submitted on that subject. It 
was not. of great importance whether such . recommen
dations came from a committee of the Council, as some 
had suggested, or from the Rapporteur himself, if the 
Council decided to continue his mandate. The impor:
tant thing was that they should be brought forward 
without delay. . . . . 

38. Freedom of information had indeed been the sub
ject of numberless. discussions, and it was time to take 
action. The matter was too important to remain 
shelved among the unfinished business of the United 
Nations and deserved something more than pious 
phrases. ,· 

39. The PRESIDENT invited the representative of 
the Uniteci Nations Educational, Scientific and Cul
tural Organization to submit his observations on the 
matter before the Council. . 

40. Mr. BEHRSTOCK (United Nations Educa
tion.al, Scientific and Cultural Organization) wished to 
furnish some information on the contribution made by 
UNESCO to the preparation of the report on freedom 
of information (E/2426) and the Secretary-General's 
report on the encouragement and development of inde-' 
pendent domestic enterprises (E/2534). 

41. The United Nations Educational, Scientific and 
Cultural Organization had been very pleased to place 
at the disposal of the Rapporteur and Secretary
General all the information it' possessed on the matters 
dealt with in those two reports and to note that the 
authors of those studies had cle·arly indicated the extent 
of its contribution with regard to certain aspects of 
freedom of information, a contribution . which was of 
course due from it by virtue of the provisions of its 
Constitution. At its first and at succeeding sessions 
the UNESCO General Conference had adopted a series 
of resolutions to translate into a positive action pro
gramme the obligations it had assumed under its 
Constitution. One of· the main features of that pro
~ramme was that UNESCO had firmly decided to join 
1ts efforts to ,those of the United Nations in order to 
co-Dperate in the development of freedom of informa..: ' 



773rd Meeting--,13 April 1954 125 

tion, and it had collaborated in organizing the United 
Nations Conference on Freedom of Information held 
in 1948 and had taken part in the work of the Sub
Commission Dn Freedom of Information and of the 
Press ever since that Sub-Commission had been set up. 

42. When it had been decided to terminate the terms 
of . reference of the Sub-Commission and to appoint 
a rapporteur, the latter had been specially invited to 
obtain the assistance of UNESCO. The Council had 
also associated UNESCO with the task entrusted to 
the Secretary-General of examining suitable measures 
for the encouragement and development of independent 
domestic information enterprises. 

43. The UNESCO General Conference had instructed 
the UNESCO secretariat to co-operate unreservedly 
in those two tasks. Within the limits of its resources 
UNESCO would continue in 1954 to give the Council 
all the assistance it might require. 

44. With regard to the future, the UNESCO General 
Conference would be asked to adopt a programme and 
budget for 1955 and 1956 at its next session in Novem
ber. Continuing the policy so far followed, the DireetDr
General of UNESCO had already provided for the con
tinuation of help to the United .Nations in the field of 
freedom of information in the draft programme to be 
submitted to the General CDnference. He would also 
be :pleased· to submit to the General Conference any 
decision affecting UNESCO which the Council might 
take at the end of the current discussion so that the 
future work of UNESCO in that field would take 
full account of the desires a{ the Economic and Social 
CDurtcil. ' 

45 .. The PRESIDENT invited the observer for Chile 
~$eak. · · 

46. Mr.· MELO LECAROS (Chile) pointed out that 
the supplementary report submitted by Mr. Lopez 
(E/2426/ Add.1) contained some incorrect references 
to Chile. The Chilean delegation proposed to reply in 
writing to the Rapporteur's allegations so that the mem
bers of the Council would have a correct idea of the 
situation in Chile. 

47. Mr. TSARAPKIN (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) noted that Mr. Lopez' report had been 
criticized from all sides and that its only defender had 
been the United States of America. That was under
standable, for the Rapporteur, instead of dealing with 
the: problem irt an objective way and with all the con
scientiousness that the terms of reference given him 
by the United Nations demanded, had produced a work 
which was a mediocre repetition of the opinions of 
information monopolies, mostly American, such as the 
Associated Press, the United Press and the Inter
national News Agency. He had not even taken the 
trouble to collate the information supplied by those 
agencies with that obtained from the countries he had 
criticized. 

48. It might be thought at first sight that the Rap
porteur had endeavoured to examine all the problems 
arising in the fie~d of. inf?rmation, but it quickly be
came clear that his chief rum had been to comply with 
the wishes of the monopolists concerned and that he 
had merely repmduced their point of view in order to 
lead the United Nations to adopt it. 

49. That at~i~de was in con!radiction with the pur
poses and pnnciples of the Umted Nations as set forth 
in Article 1 of the ·Charter : to maintain international 

peace and security, to develop friendly relations among 
nations and to. achieve international co-operation. In 
that connexion, resolution 110 (II) should be remem
bered, in which the General Assembly had condemned 
all forms of propaganda likely to provoke or encourage 
any threat to the peace and requested the Government 
of each Member State to take appropriate steps to pro
mote, by all means of publicity and propaganda avail
able to them, friendly relations among nations and to 
encourage the dissemination of all information de
signed .to give expression to the undoubted desire of 

. all peoples for peace. The provisions of the Charter 
and the General Assembly's resolution clearly showed 
the essential principles· by which States Members of 
the United Nations should be guided in solving the 
problem of freedom of information. On the one hand, 
they . should promote the dissemination of tri.te and 
authentic news likely to strengthen peace and friendly 
relations among peoples, and on the other hand to 
combat all nazi, fascist, racialist and other projmganda 
liable to threaten peace and friendly relations between 
peoples. 

SO.. The Rapporteur had deliberately avoided the real 
problem .. When he had tried to define freedom of 
information, he . had not realized that such· libe~ty 
existed only where it furthered the cause of peace, and 
that there could be no question of freedom when that 
information was used to disseminate war-mongering 
propaganda. Neither had he thought of finding out 
who were the owners of infmmation media in countries 
which were supposed to have freedom of information. 

51. On the contrary, it was clear that he had wanted' 
to present a favourable picture of the situation existing 
in certain countries, especially the United States of 
America, and through the use of lies and slander to 
paint a dark picture of the situation in the USSR and 
the peoples' ·democracies. 

52. If he had wanted to be objective, he would have 
examined the USSR Constitution and could have 
seen that under the law, every citizen was gua'ranteed 
freedom of speech, freedom of the Press, freedom of 
assembly and freedom of street processions and demon~ 
strations, and that those civil rights were ensured by 
placing at the disposal of the working people and their 
organizati<ms printing presses, stocks of paper, public 
buildings,. the streets, communication facilities and 
other material requisites for the exercise of those 
rights. In the USSR any group of citizens, any scien
tific, sports or other institution, any collective or State 
farm :could·· have its own newspaper. In 1953, over 
8,000 newspapers with a total circulation of over 
41 million had been published. Apart from that, hun
dreds . of magazines and other periodicals were pub~ 
lished in all the languages of the Soviet Union; thou
sands of the country's factories, plants, educational 
establishments, enterprises and institutions had their 
own newspapers. The Rapporteur had not taken any 
of those facts into account. 

53. He asserted that the Soviet Press was a State 
monopoly, but that very choice of words revealed the 
source to which he owed his statement. It had been 
quite ridiculous for him to allege that freedom of 
criti.cism was limited, since one had only to _open a 
Soviet newspaper to see numerous criticisms with 
respect to s~ortcomings in production or the incompe
tence of this or that person, as well as concerning 
economic, scientific and other developments. Naturally 
they did not contain sensational items because Soviet 



126 Economic and Social Council-Seventeenth Session 

newspapers did not sell their articles as did t~e capi
talist Press. Neither were they the echo of thetr mas
ters' voice. While in the USSR the Press belonged 
to millions of workers, labourers and peasants, in the 
United States of America it was the millionaires who 
selected news. The Rapporteur had not questioned 
the right of the Hearst group or the Associated Press 
to process news and to publish only what they wanted. 
Every day there could be found i~ the Hear~t Press, 
lies slander and war slogans whtch only mtsled and 
poi~oned public ?Pinion .. In that co':nexion ?e read 
out several sigmficant titles of articles whtch ha? 
appeared in American new~papers, and stated !hat tt . 
was impossible to find arttcles of that type m the 
Soviet Press. 

54. The Rapporteur had incorrectly described the 
condition of foreign correspondents in the USSR when 
he had alleged that it was increasingly difficult for 
them to enter the USSR and to do their own work 
properly after their admission. No obsta~les were 
placed in the way of the movements of foretgn corre
spondents in the Soviet Union. He recalled that at 
the end of 1953 and the beginning of 1954 two groups 
of American journalists had paid a long visit to the 
Soviet Union. During the period from January 1953 
to February 1954 there had been ~fty for.eign corre
spondents in the USSR, n?t to mention busmes.s r~pre
sentatives and representatives of sports organ~zat~ons, 
who had received all necessary travel authonzatlons. 
The real difficulty faced by American correspondents 
was not in obtaining a USSR visa but rather. in ob
taining a United States passpo~; it was well kno":n 
that passports issued by the Umted States were vahd 
for all countries with the exception of the USSR 
and the peoples' democracies, in the case of which 
special permission was necessary. 

55. The Rapporteur's report even contained obvious 
untruths, such as his allegation that Soyiet citizens 
could not speak to foreigners. That statement was so 
ridiculous and so unfounded that it would have been 
unworthy of mention if it had not appeared in a 
United Nations document. 

56. Moreover, he had exceeded his .terms of· refer
ence when he had mentioned the fact that the USSR 
was not taking part in the work of certain specialized 
agencies. That was a question which had nothing to 
do with freedom of information. 

57. In short, he had tried to fill his report with as 
many slanderous statements as possible in Ol'der to 
please Ameriean monopolies. He had tried to escape 
his responsibility by publis~ing t?e metnorandum ?f 
the International Press Institute m the annex of hts 

Printed in U.?.A. 

report, but that had only served to bring out his 
unfairness. 
58. Lastly, the Rapporteu~ had not hesitated to alter 
the official name of the peoples' democracies, which he 
called "the Cominform countries" or the "satellites" 
behind the "iron curtain". Those were terms used 
by the American Press as a psychological weapon in 
the "cold war~', and it was inadmissible that they should 

. appear in a United Nations· Docl!ment. He (~r. 
TSARAPKIN) protested most vtgorously agamst 
that procedure, which was one more proof of the 
Rapporteur's partiality. 

59. The Rapporteur had not examined the substance 
of the question of freedom of information. He had 
based his report on the differences existing between 
countries where information media were in the hands 
of powerful monopolies, and others where, as a result 
of a revolution, capitalist enterprises had been replaced 
by public bodies that severed the interests of the people 
and he had done that in such a way as to imply that 
freedom of information existed in the former group 
of countries. · 

60. When he had examined the question of freedom 
of information in the United States of America, the 
United Kingdom or France, he had not mentioned the 
fact that information media were controlled by pluto
cratic circles which utilized thetn for war-mongering. 
Under the United States Constitution, every citizen 
had the right to publish a newspaper, but since that 

· required a capital of several million dollars, the Press 
was, as a result, concentrated in the hands of a few 
millionaires who enforced their desires and imposed 
their points of view. The Hutchins report drew atten
tion to the reduction in the number of newspapers in 
the United States, where independent publishers were 
absorbed by the large monopolies. That report also 
pointed out that 40 per cent of the newspapers had 
no competition to cope with, and that the circulation 
of newspapers owned by fourteen persons, represented 
25 per cent of the total circulation, which meant that 
those persons were able to mould the opinion of a 
quarter of the population of the United States. Simi
larly, sources of information were in the hands of 
three Press agencies, which belonged to the owners of 
newspaper enterprises. Under those conditions, it 
could well be asked where freedom of information 
came m. 

61. On account of the late hour, he suggested post
poning the rest of· his statement until the following 
meeting. 

It W{JS so decided. 

The meeting rose at 1.15 p.m. 

1(>883-May 1954-1,900 




